#### DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 193 529

' CE 027 092

AUTHOR

Hiemstra, Roger

TITLE

Preparing Human Service Practitioners to Teach Older

Adults. Information Series No. 209.

INSTITUTION

ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult, Career, and Vocational

Education, Columbus, Ohio.: Ohio State Univ.,

Columbus. National Center for Research in Vocational

Education.

SPONS AGENCY

National Inst. of Education (DHEW), Washington,

D.C.

PUB DATE

80

CONTRACT

400-76-0122

NOTE

66p.

AVAILABLE PROM

National Center Publications, The National Center for Research in Vocational Education, The Ohio State University, 1960 Kenny Rd., Columbus, OH 43210

(\$4.50).

EDFS PRICE DESCRIPTORS MF01/PC03 Plus Postage.

\*Adult Educators: \*Educational History: \*Educational Research: Educational Theories: \*Learning Problems:

Learning Processes: Literature Reviews: Needs

Assessment: \*Older Adults: Program Design: Program Implementation: \*Teaching Methods

ABSTRACT

This paper overviews existing research on how one teaches the older person. It is aimed at the many persons who work with clder adults, regardless of whether they are trained to teach older adults. Suggestions are outlined for the design and implementation of effective education for older persons. Several areas that are examined are (1) the history of adult learning (includes models, stages, and theories: memory and intellect; and learning needs and obstacles): (2) the adult education instructor (includes the teacher as facilitator: the teaching/learning process: and self-directed learning): (3) techniques of altering traditional modes of dispensing information and developing personal instructor approaches and styles (discusses interference, hesitancy, speed and pacing, and organizational and associational abilities); and (4) the need for further research. Appended materials contain some anecdotal experiences related to working with older adults and a list of relevant resources such as periodicals, professional associations, political groups, and professional training opportunities. (CT)

\* Reproductions supplied by EDRS are the best that can be made

from the original document.

# PREPARING HUMAN SERVICE PRACTITIONERS TO TEACH OLDER ADULTS

written by

Roger Hiemstra Iowa State University

The ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult, Career, and Vocational Education
The National Center for Research in Vocational Education
The Orio State University
1960 Kenny Road
Columbus, Ohio 43210

19801

U S DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH. EDUCATION & WELFARE NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF EDUCATION

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN REPRO-DUCED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED FROM THE PERSON OR ORGANIZATION ORIGIN-ATING IT POINTS OF VIEW OR OPINIONS STATED DO NOT NECESSARILY REPRE-SENT OFFICIAL NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF EDUCATION POSITION OR POLICY

# THE NATIONAL CENTER MISSION STATEMENT

The National Center for Research in Vocational Education's mission is to increase the ability of diverse agencies, institutions, and organizations to solve educational problems relating to individual career planning, preparation, and progression. The National Center fulfills its mission by:

- · Generating knowledge through research
- Developing educational programs and products
- Evaluating individual program needs and outcomes
- Providing information for national planning and policy
- Installing educational programs and products
- Operating information systems and services
- Conducting leadership development and training programs

#### FLINDING INFORMATION

Project Title:

ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult, Career, and Vocational

Education

Contract Number:

NIE-C-400-76-0122

Educational Act Under Which the

Funds were Administered:

41 USC 252 (15) and PL 92-318

Source of Contract:

U.S. Department of Education National Institute of Education

Washington, D.C.

Contractor:

The National Center for Research in Vocational Education

The Ohio State University .

Columbus, Ohio

Executive

Director:

Robert E. Taylor

Project Director:

Juliet V. Miller

Disclaimer:

This publication was prepared pursuant to a contract with the National Institute of Education, U.S. Department of Education. Contractors undertaking such projects under government sponsorship are encouraged to freely express their judgment in professional and technical matters. Points of view or opinions do not, therefore, necessarily represent official National Institute of Education position or policy.

Discrimination

Prohibited:

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 states: "No person in the United States shall, on the ground of race, color, or national origin, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving federal financial assistance."

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 states: "No person in the United States shall, on the basis of sex, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any education program or activity receiving federal assistance." The ERIC Clearinghouse project, like every program or activity receiving financial assistance from the U.S. Department of Education, must comply with these laws.



This publication was prepared with funding from the National Institute of Education, U.S. Department of Education, under Contract No. NIE-C-466-76-0122. The opinions expressed in this report do not recoverily reflect the position or policies of ME or the Department of Education.

#### **FOREWORD**

The Educational Resources Information Center on Adult, Career, and Vocational Education (ERIC/ACVE) is one of sixteen clearinghouses in a nationwide information system that is funded by the National Institute of Education. One of the functions of the Clearinghouse is to interpret the literature that is entered in the ERIC data base. This paper should be of particular interest to practitioners seeking concrete guidelines and suggestions for reaching older adults and university faculty and graduate students seeking a broad overview of the literature on teaching older adults.

The profession is indebted to Roger Hiemstra for his scholarship in the preparation of this paper. Recognition also is due Suzanne D. Wilcos, City University of New York; Pearl Greenstein, Rutgers University; and Nancy Lust, The National Center for Research in Vocational Education, for their critical review of the manuscript prior to its final revision and publication. Robert D. Bhaerman, Assistant Director for Career Education at the ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult, Career, and Vocational Education, coordinated the publication's development.

Robert E. Taylor
Executive Director
The National Center for Research
in Vocational Education

#### ABSTRACT

This paper overviews existing research on how one teaches the older person. It is aimed at the many persons who work with older adults, regardless of whether they are trained to teach older adults. Suggestions are outlined for the design and implementation of effective education for older persons. Several areas that are examined are (1) the history of adult learning (includes models, stages, and theories; memory and intellect; and learning needs and obstacles); (2) the adult. education instructor (includes the teacher as facilitator; the teaching/learning process; and self-directed learning); (3) techniques of altering traditional modes of dispensing information and developing personal instructor approaches and styles (discusses interference, hesitancy, speed and pacing, and organizational and associational abilities); and (4) the need for further research. Appended materials contain some anecdotal experiences related to working with older adults and a list of relevant resources such as periodicals, professional associations, political groups, and professional training opportunities. (CT)

DESC: \*Educational Research; \*Older Adults; \*Adult Educators; Program Design; Program Implementation; \*Teaching Methods; \*Educational History; Literature Reviews; Educational Theories; Needs Assessment; \*Learning Problems; Learning Processes

-v-

# CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION		-	1
THE OLDER ADULT AS LEARNER			4
OLDER ADULTS CAN LEARN			4
MODELS, STAGES, AND THEORI	res ·		6
MEMORY AND INTELLECT		2.1	6
LEARNING NEEDS AND OBSTACE	LES		· 7
TEACHING OLDER ADULTS	•	·	9
INSTRUCTOR ROLES	· ·	•	9
SELF-DIRECTED LEARNING		•	16
USEFUL TECHNIQUES			17
THE NEED FOR FURTHER RESEARCH	•	•	26
APPENDIX A			29
APPENDIX B	•		38
REFERENCES .			42.

<u>ERIC</u>

# TABLES '

TABLE 1		-
	A SUGGESTED TEACHING/LEARNING PROCESS FOR ADULTS: 13 PLANNING ELEMENTS AND METHODOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS	
TABLE 2		•
	GUIDING THE OLDER ADULT LEARNER: SUGGESTIONS18	

## INTRODUCTION

It will be no surprise to readers of this paper that the growth in the elderly population of the United States has been accelerating rapidly in the past two decades. The growth rate has been exceeded only by the interest of many people in the elderly population. A variety of human services practitioners now appear to have the older person as the focus of their professional activities. Numerous volunteers spend considerable time each week with senior citizens. Various educational specialists are concerned with providing learning experiences for such persons. As Sheppard (1979) recently indicated, educational opportunities for older people are increasing. Numerous government agencies now direct their sefforts toward older citizens. Finally, researchers from both the physical and the social sciences continue the wide-ranging study of aging, the aged, and how to work with the aged.

It is this latter group that provides the base of information for this paper. However, it is no easy task to interpret the abundance of available research related in some way to working with and teaching older persons. Research findings often are disparate in nature; frequently disagreement is, found among researchers working on similar problems. Since new research disclosures replace previous knowledge almost daily, it is sometimes difficult to draw reliable implications for practice.

The purpose of this paper is to present a brief overview of existing research regarding how one teaches the older person.

However, as indicated, it is not possible to cover in depth every issue of importance to the teaching/learning process. The paper, nevertheless, should be useful to many persons (i.e., those who are trained or untrained, skilled or unskilled) who work with older adults. The intended audience is the "human services practitioner." Admittedly, this is a broad term designed to cover a variety of people such as social workers, extension specialists, librarians, leisure service providers, volunteer workers, counselors, and aging network employees. It is assumed that many of these individuals will not have had much, or in some instances, any, professional training for working with older persons. An effort will be made, therefore, to outline in practical terms what can be suggested from the research regarding the design and implementation of effective education for older persons. Hopefully, enough resources will be provided to stimulate readers toward further study. In addition, adult educators, educational gerontologists, and a variety of researchers also should find the paper useful in providing an interpretational base of information.. Such audiences can further this base by challenging or substantiating points made throughout the paper.

Before we turn to the literature, however, several initial points should be made. In terms of definitions, the healthy older adult, the biggest percentage of all people over age sixty-five, is primarily what the author has in mind when making suggestions about teaching. Frail, institutionalized, or handicapped adults obviously serve as research subjects in many instances, but special care and expertise often confound any needed teaching and learning interaction. (For example, see ancedotes in Appendix A.) Thus, the assumption is made that older adults are capable of learning, are willing to learn under the right conditions, and will benefit from good teaching and learning.

Lastly, in terms of some general problems of teaching older adults, many persons who find themselves in a situation of needing to organize some sort of learning activity for older persons have had no formal preparation for teaching, especially teaching adults Therefore, directing a pre-retirement planning program, delivering nutrition information at a congregate meal site, or instructing a group of elderly on how to fill out governmental forms often must be done by instinct, trial and error, or modeling from past experiences. Another problem centers around how to organize and present necessary information to insure maximum learning. Questions about appropriate teaching techniques, learning inhibitors, how to structure learning experiences, and how to evaluate progress continue to be raised. Still another problem facing many people who attempt to conduct learning experiences centers around defining the role of the

learner. Most authorities suggest that adult learners take an active role in the entire teaching/learning process. This role, quite different from the role most learners assumed during their formal education as a youth, includes their active participation in such activities as assessing needs, planning content, securing resources, and being involved in implementation. While older adults as well as younger ones appear to thrive on such involvement, it is not easy to initiate such new ways of learning. But the result of these new modalities can be highly satisfying to the older adult who is developing new responsibilities for his or her learning.

# THE OLDER ADULT AS LEARNER

OLDER ADULTS CAN LEARN

The history of knowledge about adult learning capacity reads like the pioneering efforts that have been basic to the western world, that is, the frontiers constantly get pushed further out. Thorndike's (1928) pioneering efforts resulted in a frontier that pointed with optimism to only a gradual decline in learning ability until age forty-five, at which time a sharp decline could be expected. More comfort was found in Jones and Conrad's (1933) famous Army Alpha Test research which showed that the gradual decline continued until age sixty. In the 1950s longitudinal research reports began to show adult ability in a much improved light; for example, Terman and Oden (1959) demonstrated actual gains with age on some cognitive measures.

In the early 1960s, the explosion in research on the older adult began. Most of the earlier studies and some of those in the 1960s were tied to stimulus-response (S-R) notions regarding human behavior, or what Hultsch (1977) called the "associative" model. In this model, learning and memory were believed to be tied to responses to learning stimuli; differences in age group were associated with various types of interferences.

The next evolutionary change began to emerge in the early to mid-1960s, when notions about the human organism were inserted into the older S-R model. McClusky (1971) described the Stimulus-Organism-Response (S-0-R) formula as the key that unlocked the door to communicating and interacting with learners. Hultsch (1977) referred to this as the information processing model. Based on notions about learning as the intake

of information through our senses, the sorting and processing of that information in short-term memory, and the transfer and storage of relevant items into long-term memory, positive support for lifelong learning potential began to emerge (Craik, 1977). Individual differences began to be accounted for. Many explanations for intellectual declines were found to be tied to both cognitive and non-cognitive factors. Compensatory, corrective, or adult-specific teaching techniques were developed.

A new stage appears to be evolving in the understanding of adult learning through the life span. Labouvie-Vief (1977) suggested that much of our past research had built-in biases because many subjects of studies were born in historical eras that did not include rapid change. Certainly the current wide-spread interest in lifelong learning is tied to some fast moving changes; the awareness of emerging human needs is tied to change-related factors. The importance of developmental stages, interest in life-span education, research on cognitive development, and cognitive style differences are all related events.

It may well be that this newest stage - and the paying attention to ways of optimizing cognitive development - will offer the teacher of older adults the most help in the future. Hultsch (1977) offered a name for this stage - contextual - and has suggested that the social and psychological context of the learning event (i.e., what the individual experiences) is extremely important. Thus, learning is the transaction between each individual and his or her restructuring of personal knowledge in light of new learnings.

Hiemstra (1975, 1976c) reported that older adults spend 300 or more hours each year in learning endeavors. Birren and Woodruff (1973) and McMahon (1979) suggested that the rapidity of social change, changing career patterns, and changing attitudes toward education are some of the major reasons for this high participation in learning. The amount of formal education, the amount of social activity, and occupational status also appear to be associated with participation in learning activities.

Of most importance to the person wishing to be a successful teacher is the fact everyone recognizes: individual differences among older adults exist. The elderly simply cannot be treated as a single group; they should be viewed as heterogeneous, multi-dimensional in characteristics, and varied in terms of needs and abilities. While the elderly ofte, appear as victims of stereotyping in terms of ability (Kasworm, 1978), some seventy year olds will do as well or better than many younger people (Arenberg and Robertson-Tchabo, 1977).

MODELS, STAGES, AND THEORIES

In short, a variety of research exists that relates in some manner to models, stages, and theories about how adult learning takes place. It often is difficult to determine exactly how each researcher is referring to the learning process in relationship to others who also describe learning activity. In fact, there appears to be considerable disagreement in , terms of capabilities, limitations, and the exact nature of learning.

Some earlier theories about older adults as learners have been proven wrong or else have evolved as a result of additional knowledge or longitudinal research. A disengagement theory, or the increasing separation from activity with e.g., was a popular notion during the 1950s and 1960s (Cumming and Henry, 1961; Cumming, 1963). As Moody (1976) suggested, this approach characterized the social services era of "fixing" problems largely through the intervention of public policy and transfer payments. A better understanding of older adults has led to a fairly wide-spread dismissal of the disengaging notion and replaced it with concepts on compensating, adapting, and activity abilities. (E.g., see R.D. Gordon, 1974; Labouvie-Vief, 1977; Olbrick and Thomae, 1978; Palmore. 1970).

#### MEMORY AND INTELLECT

A number of studies on older persons report a slow decline in intelligence with age (Jones, 1979). The Weschler Adult Intelligence Scale has been used by many researchers. While this test utilizes verbal response answers based on accumulated knowledge and vocabulary, the older person probably is penalized because of built-in time constraints (Levine, 1971). Hence, once the speed factor is removed, many researchers believe that "intelligence change is not age related (Bolton, 1978). In fact, some studies have shown little loss and some actual gain in related tests of vocabulary, general information, verbal reasoning, experience, and judgment with age (Jones, 1979). Given good health, highly mentally active adults tend to stay that way throughout their life (Botwinick, 1977). As McClusky (1973) reminds us, individual differences exist among people regardless of age. Thus, later life intelligence is better characterized by plasticity or flexibility rather than by universal decline (Labouvie-Vief, 1976).

"The jury is still out" in terms of memory ability. Botwinick (1967) and Catino et al. (1977) have found some short term

memory loss with age. Raymond (1971), however, found no deterioration in short term recall efforts. Several researchers (Aiken, 1978; Birren, 1968; and Schale and Strother, 1968) have suggested that there appear to be memory-associated intellectual deficits. Arenberg and Robertson (n.d.) indicated there are problems and declines that we must deal with. Many researchers have indicated that the issue is not really memory problems but that they relate to other factors. For example, Norman (1973) suggested that older learners simply do not understand certain concepts or cues for a number of reasons. Haase (1979) indicated that "rusty thinking" might be the reason for apparent intelligence or memory difficulties. An unwieldly amount of information to be processed may be the major problem according to Arenberg and Robertson-Tchabo, 1977. Several studies indicated that discriminating, coding discrete information, or note-taking abilities may be weaker. (E.g., see Botwinick, 1978; Craik and Masini, 1975; Kausler and Kleim, 1978; Schoenfield et al., 1972.)

Birren (1969) provides an optimistic concluding note, namely, that the elderly become aware of inherent limitations during the aging process and attempt to compensate in various ways. Hopefully, the current research thrust to understand thinking and intellectual change in light of the context of life itself will help to provide new information.

### LEARNING NEEDS AND OBSTACLES

Many researchers have stressed the importance of understanding the needs and interests of older persons. A number of them (Goodrow, 1974, 1975; Havighurst, 1976; Hiemstra, 1975, 1976b, and 1977-78; and Marcus, 1976, 1978), all have suggested a classification scheme (instrumental versus expressive) related to educational needs and utility expectations. Hiemstra and Long (1974) and Londoner (1978) described the complexities involved in how needs are assessed and in how to use expert advice regarding needs.

It is important to understand some of the potential obstacles facing older adult learners. Although there may be problems specific to a location or economic or clientele group, the literature suggests several common obstacles, e.g., lack of transportation, dislike of evening programs, lack of time or energy, costs, personal responsibilities, failing health, lack of confidence, personal feeling of being too old, and lack of knowledge about educational possibilities. (E.g., see Cross, Valley, and Associates, 1975; DeCrow, n.d.; Graney and Hays, 1976; Hiemstra, 1972, 1975; Lersten, 1974; and Symposium, 1973.)

A variety of health-related factors and a person's overall health status also appear to affect learning ability and activity. Fatigue, for example, can be a problem as Gounard and Hulicka (1977) noted. Perceptions by older persons of declining energy or health as a barrier have been reported by Hiemstra (1972, 1975). Agruso (1978), Knox (1977, 1978), and Verner and Davison (1971) each have described the effects of declining vision and hearing capabilities on learning. Wilkie and Eisdorfer (1971) mentioned hypertension as a possible inhibitor.

It is important, therefore, that teachers understand the relationship of such factors as real needs, potential obstacles, and various health factors to the learning endeavors of older persons. McClusky (1973) theorized that people have certain reserves or margins of power available to overcome loads they encounter. The skillful teacher, however, needs to be sensitive to such loads becoming too great. Birren (1969) suggested that the elderly often recognize their needs to conserve energy and maintain supportive levels of health. Bolton (1978), however, pointed out the need for additional research on this issue.

# **TEACHING OLDER ADULTS**

INSTRUCTOR ROLES

The Teacher As Facilitator

In the past two decades there has been fairly consistent support of the notion that a process of facilitating learning is required for success with the adult learner. Knowles' (1970), introduction of the notion of andragogy and the corresponding teaching/learning process provided a comprehensive explanation of the facilitator role. Lebel (1978) and Meyer (1977) also explored the concept of andragogy in terms of the older adult.

There are certain crucial elements regarding the facilitator notion. One of these is the active involvement of the learner in the entire educational activity. This includes assessing needs, setting objectives, identifying resources, participating in the learning activities, and helping to evaluate the experience. Alpaugh, Renner, and Birren (1976) have suggested that teachers help learners form their own learning strategies. Mullan and Gorman (1972) encouraged the use of peer groups both for learning activities and for providing feedback on progress to each other, while Knox (1977) encouraged the establishment of a climate which permits the learner freedom for individual exploration.

Several authors have emphasized the need for good interaction and communication between teacher and learner as an important part of the process. This requires the teacher to understand the aging process, the nature of learning, and his or her own attitudes toward teaching.

Another aspect of the facilitator notion that is gaining increasing usage in terms of helping learners guide their own learning is the learning contract (Knowles, 1975; Cross, 1977). Research on the effectiveness of such contracts with older adults is still necessary. The prospective teacher may wish to explore their utility.

An additional facilitator element important to the success of teaching and learning is the evaluation of learner progress. Several researchers have cautioned against the use of traditional testing procedures. Recognition rather than recall techniques, frequent feedback on learner progress, and selfor peer-evaluation are alternative suggestions cited by Arenberg and Robertson, n.d.; Eysenck, 1975; Knowles, 1970; Mullan and Gorman, 1972; and Witte and Freund, 1976.

Another problem facing many practitioners relates to what the role of the teacher should be in the entire learning process. Historic expectations, often stemming from what such practitioners have seen modeled, have mainly focused on the belief that the dispersing of knowledge from an expert to a learner-receptor is the standard model. However, most authorities suggest that the successful teacher of adults utilizes facilitator techniques in managing the instructional process.

What is being advocated here is that the person who wishes to be a successful instructor of older adults must become a facilitator of learning, putting process before content. Expertise on some content area often takes on secondary importance. The adult educator ideally performs several functions, each of which contributes to his or her role as facilitator, for example:

- O Serves as one of several possible resources in a content area
- Locates appropriate resources or new information as warranted by student needs
- o Arranges for and manages the successful employment of a variety of learning resources needed to accomplish certain goals
- o Stimulates learners' interest in and motivation toward certain topics
- o Helps learners develop positive attitudes toward learning and fosters their independence

- o Promotes discussion, questioning, and self-directed inquiry
- o Evaluates learner progress and stimulates learners' self-evaluation

Success with such an approach will depend on the potential instructor's attitude and willingness to carry out some of the suggested duties. A variety of ideas and techniques are available in the literature that either relate directly to the facilitator notion or that help to explain some of the teaching and learning requirements.

## A Teaching/Learning Process

One educator who has brought much attention to the teaching of adults is Knowles (1970). His development of a beginning theoretical framework for the teaching/learning process, andragogy, has aided many researchers in focusing their efforts. The planning and design elements central to his framework will serve as a foundation for the process to be described here. In addition, the notion described earlier that adults of all ages have been found to prefer themselves as the primary planner, director of, and resource for learning will-be incorporated into the process (Hiemstra, 1975, 1976c; Tough, 1979).

Table 1 below outlines the basic process elements suggested for human services practitioners in planning educational activities for older adults. The process rests on the following basic assumptions and is adapted from Knowles' (1970) work:

- 1. <u>Self-Concept</u>. As a person matures, individual self-concept evolves from dependency toward independence and self-direction.
- 2. Experience. A person accumulates a huge reservior of knowledge and experience during the maturation process that becomes an increasing resource for learning:
- 3. Readiness to Learn. During the aging process, a person's readiness for learning becomes increasingly oriented to various developmental tasks and social role expectations.
- 4. <u>Time Perspective</u>. In maturity, a person is most motivated to learn when immediate application is needed . or can be seen.
- 5. <u>Learning Needs</u>. During aging, a person's orientation toward learning appears to shift from subject-centered awareness to problem-centered and coping needs.

One should also note that the process assumes that most learning endeavors will involve people primarily in group settings. However, the self-directed learner can be helped to utilize portions of the process in planning and guiding his or her own learning. Furthermore, it is anticipated that the process - or most portions of it - can be adapted to almost any type of setting.

The planning elements in Table 1 outline a logical flow of events in preparing, planning, and carrying out a learning experience. The first four elements call for an active involvement of the learner in determining relevant needs and personal goals. In a two- or three-hour session, as much as one hour might be invested in the preparatory stage. In a several-session course or workshop, the first one or two sessions might be utilized. (See Appendix A.) However, the commitment toward, and feeling of ownership-for, the subsequent learning builds meaningfulness into subsequent activities that more than make up for any "lost" time. One should note, however, that the traditional instructor role of dispensing knowledge through lecture is greatly altered. Knowles (1970, 1975) and Meyer (1977) provide helpful discussions of related planning ideas, corresponding techniques, and underlying assumptions.

12

TAPLE 1
A Suggested Teaching/Learning Process for Adults:
Planning Elements and Methodological Implications

PLANNING ELEMENTS	METHODOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS		
Establishing a Learning Environment	<ul> <li>Encourage informality and a spirit of mutuality Create a non-threatening setting and work to reduce any initial anxiety that may exist.</li> <li>Arrange for comfortable seating, an</li> </ul>		
	attractive setting, and the maximization of adequate sight and sound qualities.		
	Facilitate learners getting acquainted with each other through use of introductions, name tags, circle seating, etc.		
Develop á	aUse mutual planning techniques.		
Planņing, Mechanism	o Form small planning and discussion groups. O Encourage cooperative efforts in the planning process.		
•	Provide for adequate input by learners in the planning effort to promote feelings of personal ownership.		
Diagnose Learning Needs and Interests	Provide some initial focus and guidance in determining basic or potential learning parameters.		
, · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Facilitate some initial self-diagnosis by learners through self-rating forms or personal interviews.		
	Help to refine the majority needs through small group discussions, decision-making techniques, or facilitator-student dialogues.		
•	Establish a mechanism for continuous diagnosis or re-diagnosis.		
	o Develop periodic feedback devices.  o Encourage students periodically to reexamine their progress in relationship to need.		

# TABLE 1 (Con't.)

PLANNING ELEMENTS	METHODOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS
Formulate Student and Group Objectives Based	Provide a tentative outline of group objectives based on the needs assessed above and stated in measurable terms.
on Determined Needs	o Discuss the objectives in a large group setting or facilitate small group discussion of them.
•	o Revise the objectives as necessary.
	Facilitate the development of individual learner objectives in relation to the group objectives for maximum learner growth.
	o Use a performance contract process (Knowles, 1975).
,	o Obtain a personal commitment toward and ownership of the learning necessary to meet objectives.
Design and Implement the	Promote the use of a wide variety of learning resources.
Experience	o Make available instructor-developed and instructor-located materials.
	o Use outside content specialists to meet any unique needs.
	o Encourage learners to locate and provide learning resources to their peers
Sept.	Promote self-directed inquiry and the use of resources outside the traditional learning environment.
•	Help learners design appropriate experiences according to need and ability
	o Match objectives (learning contracts) to appropriate resources.
	o Promote peer examination and discussion of learning contracts

# TABLE 1 (Con't.)

PLANNING ELEMENTS		METHODOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS		
		o Provide instructor feedback on design appropriateness.		
		Encourage the use of a variety of self-directed learning activities.		
	:	o.Form study groups to focus on a single topic		
		o Use reading logs, diaries, or related experiences.		
		c Promote mini-internships, field visits, interviews, etc.		
,				
• .		•		
Evaluate the Learning	,	Encourage individually determined evaluation techniques.		
Experience	ces I	o Use peer group validation.		
		o Use evaluations by outside experts.		
		o Ask students to rediagnose their learning needs in terms of growth or change.		
		Use mutually determined evaluations by the student and the instructor (through the learning contract)		
	•	Use non-graded or anonymous testing procedures where feasible.		
		Provide continuous feedback on learner progress.		

Adapted from Knowles (1970).

## SELF-DIRECTED LEARNING

Perhaps one of the most exciting current innovations related to adult learning has been the discovery that adults of all ages—as noted above—prefer themselves as the primary planner and director of their own learning (Hiemstra, 1976a; Penland, 1979; and Tough, 1978, 1979). The selection of "self" as the primary planner also held true in some research on the older adult learner. Hiemstra (1975, 1976c) studied the learning project activity of 214 adults (age.55 and older) in Nebraska. The data show that older adults each undertook an average of 3.3 learning projects, They spent an average of 324 hours on their learning activities. Fifty-five percent of the projects were self-planned, 20 percent were group planned, 10 percent were planned on a one-to-one basis and 10 percent had no dominant type of planner. Fifty-four percent of their learning activities were self-fulfillment in nature, which included arts, crafts, recreation, and religion.

Although a great deal more needs to be known about the implications of such research for facilitators of older adult learning, several, authors have offered some potentially useful advice. For example, R. D. Gordon (1974) suggested that efficiency and creative self-direction can be enhanced in older persons; Bolton (1978) indicated that "discovery teaching methods can overcome various barriers; Knowles (Symposium, 1973) urged educators to help people learn self-directed skills; Jones (1980) noted that facilitators should base learning on self-derived interests as opposed to teachergenerated assignments. A variety of non-traditional, self-directed learning modes and techniques with older adults are no doubt possible or already exist as parts of various disciplines; they await our discovery, assessment, and adaptation.



# USEFUL TECHNIQUES

The process and research noted above suggests that the successful instructor of older adults must be a facilitator and manager of the learning environment and must find means for utilizing the self-directed abilities of learners. Recommendations for altering the more traditional mode of dispensing information as well as evaluating the level of acquisition or comprehension through testing procedures appear to have wide-spread literature support. Unfortunately, no uniform agreement exists in terms of what make up instructional interactions. Several resources (see Appendix B) should provide considerable help to the reader in building some understanding of existing knowledge regarding instruction.

Another problem is that not a great deal of research on selecting techniques and strategies specific to the older adult has been carried out. Some potential advice exists. White and Hansen (1976) have suggested that five to twenty people is the optimal small group size, with seven to ten the best number for good interaction and communication. They also suggested that students face one another; they recommended the use of discussion groups for optimal interaction. Others have urged the use of combined auditory and visual techniques (Arenberg, 1968, 1977; Gounard and Hulicka, 1977). Hulicka and Grossman (1967) suggested using review strategies as a regular part of a learning activity. Norman (1973) urged that older learners be involved in organizing the content or material during the learning process. Techniques that employ concrete stimuli but that reduce stimulus discriminability and that avoid competition or too much complexity also have been recommended (Arenberg and Robertson-Tchabo, 1977). However, research that provides confirming support to such findings and additional specific advice is required before a complete instructional process can be outlined.

Table 2 below displays an outline of various sources providing a variety of suggestions to guide instructors in developing personal approaches and styles. These sources and research findings were utilized to derive several recommendations for practice. The table is organized around seven categories related to elements of instructional awareness or organizational need. A human services practitioner who desires to be an effective instructor of older adults can employ the planning process outlined in Table 1 and the application suggestions in Table 2 to develop a personal teaching process. Obviously, trial and error, practice, and allowances for individual preferences and unique teaching situations will be required.

TABLE 2
Guiding the Older Adult Learner: Suggestions from the Literature

0

INSTRUCTIONAL ELEMENT	RESEARCHERS	APPLICATION SUGGESTIONS
Personal Approach of the 'Instructor	Gounard & Hulicka (1977) Hixon (1968) Jones (1980) Knox (1977) Mullan and Gorman (1972) Wass and West (1970)	•
Sensitivity to Needs (Sensory Physical, Perceptual		Pay attention to the physical environment.  Reduce distractions. Insure that comfortable heating and proper ventilation exist  Be sensitive to declining vision difficulties for some learners. Insure that lots of light is available. Use high contrast on visuals and handouts. Reduce glare or direct sunlight. Use large, bold print or type. Allow time for adjustment when going from light to dark or vice versa (showing a film, for example).
	**	Be sensitive to declining hearing problems for some learners.  Use extra voice or media amplification.

INSTRUCTIONAL ELEMENT	RESEARCHERS	APPLICATION SUGGESTIONS
vac. H = + 4 ***		Be prepared to help some learners move closer to sound sources.  Be sensitive to the manner of the presentation.  Read material aloud where possible.  Use combined auditory and visual presentation modes.
Relating to the Needs & Experiences of Learners	Glynn & Muth (1979) Gordon, R.D. (1974) Gounard & Hulicka (1977) Lersten (1974) Symposium (1973)	Base the learning activities on the needs and interests of the learners.  Help learners to relate new knowledge to past experiences.  If text material is utilized help learners tie the information to knowledge they have already.  Be flexible in terms of differing needs, interests, and abilities that may exist.
Attention to the Pace of Learning	Fruend & Witte (1976) Gounard & Hulicka (1977) Jones (1980) Knox (1977) Lersten (1974) Mullan & Gorman (1972) Okun (1977) Symposium (1973)	and present small amounts of information at any one time.

ERIC Provided by ERIC

TABLE 2, con't. 9

INSTRUCTIONAL ELEMENT	RESEARCHERS	APPLICATION SUGGESTIONS
		Permit and promote self pacing.  Promote certainty, confidence, and success by moving from easy material to difficult (build on earlier successes).
Involving the Learner in the Learning Process	Gordon, R.D. (1974) Hiemstra (1975, 1976a) Knox (1977) Mullan & Gorman (1972) Tough (1979) Wass and West (1977)	Facilitate the learner's active involvement in all aspects of the learning process.  Facilitate self-directed learning.  Encourage self-directed determining of learning goals, learning approaches, and learning resources.  Reduce learner dependency on the instructor and increase self-responsibility.  Enhance the development of a positive self-concept.  Promote self-motivation and learning efficiency.  Utilize discovery techniques.
Organization & Meaning- fulness in the Learning Material	Craik (1977) Glynn and Muth (1979) Gordon, R.D. (1974) Gounard & Hulicka (1977) Hultsch (1975) Jones (1980) Knox (1977) Lersten (1974)	Be highly organized.  Instructional objectives can help to focus and orient.  Use prequestions, outlines, study guides, or other forms of advanced organizing techniques.  Help learners organize and reorganize their learning.  Stress overlearning, differences between concepts, tying together of concepts, and



# TABLE 2 (Con't).

INSTRÚCTIONAL ELEMENT	RESEARCHERS	APPLICATION SUGGESTIONS
	•	relevancy of information as opposed to just memory work.
•	·	Encourage learners and show them how to take notes or outline.
	•	Make organizing the material part of the learning process.
_		Encourage practicing techniques.
-		Explain the use of specific encoding procedures.
	٠.	Utilize various cuing devices.
• •		Use headings, summaries, review helps, etg.
•	,	Encourage the learners to develop various mediators or mnemonics (visual images, rhymes, acronymns, self-designed coding schemes, etc.).
		Seek cues that are familiar or that can be tied to pust knowledge.
		Utilize ma'arials and information that will have real meaning to the learner.
. /	, '	Use a highly stimulating approach that will appeal to several senses.
		Use concrete examples, based on past experiences of the learner where possible.
Evaluation Related to	Gordon, R. D. (1974)	Use recognition techniques as opposed to more traditional
the Learning Effort	Gounard and Hulicka (1977)	recall methods.

•		
	<u> </u>	
INSTRUCTIONAL ELEMENT	RESEARCHERS	APPLICATION SUGGESTIONS
	Hixon (1968) Hulicka and	Utilize multiple choice testing instead of essay.
	Grossman (1967) Jones (1980) Mullan and Gorman (1972) Okun and Siegler	Minimize the chance of failure the impact of making errors (test-retest, pass-retake, non-grading, etc.)  Provide regular feedback on progress.  Utilize positive feedback
	(1977)	techniques. Use review strategies:
	·	Use peer group feedback/ evaluation techniques.
		Reduce or eliminate required homework and graded testing procedures.
. '		
•		
*		



The sections which follow are intended to present a brief overview of some of the important related terminology found in the research literature.

### Meaningfulness

By interpreting research by Witte and Freund (1976) and discussions by Winn et al. (1976), a suggestion can be made to teachers of older adults that when facilitating learning they utilize concrete learning stimuli and techniques which facilitate matching or associating related ideas or concepts. Hultsch (1971) indicated that meaningfulness helped in remembering and recalling activities; Alpaugh et al. (1976) found a preference for clarity among older subjects. Speed of recognition also was tied to this concept by Eysenck (1975). Grotelueschen (1972) suggested that meaningful items help in the anchoring of new information to existing ideas, while Calhoun and Gounard (1979) reported that meaningfulness promotes increased overall learning. Lastly, Taub (1977) indicated that apparently meaningful word possibilities facilitate the improvement of memory storage.

Thus, meaninfulness becomes the goal of learning while creating meaning is part of the instructional process. However, we would point out that not all researchers support these concerns with meaningful stimuli. Eisdorfer et al. (1970) reported that meaningfulness was not an important component of age differences in learning. Obviously, additional research is required to understand this area of inquiry more fully.

# Interference

A variety of factors may interfere with the ability of older learners to undertake effective learning. For example, Schaie and Strother (1968) suggested that any number of distractions in a person's life or in the learning situation can cause debilitating anxiety. Arenberg and Robertson-Tchabo, 1977; Carpenter, 1967; and Kuhlen, 1970, all have found that a lack of self-confidence is a problem. In many instances; women have been found to be more anxious or to have lower self-concepts than men (Symposium, 1973). Baltes and Labouvie, 1973, also have noted that a propensity not to answer test questions (omission errors) among elderly is an interference or negative motivator.

Problems still exist, however, in interpreting or making practical use of these findings. Goulet (1970), for example, suggested that we do not really know how interference is manifested. Research also is being carried out to better understand what test anxiety really means. Bolton (1978) perhaps gave the most useful advice when he urged that teachers of older adults do everything they can to reduce environmental distractions, personal fears, and

anxiety producing requirements in the learning setting.

#### Hesitancy

Hesitancy, cautiousness, and reluctance to risk making errors are discussed by a variety of researchers. Okun (1977) and Okun and DiVesta (1976) suggested that cautiousness tendencies in older learners are direct motivation inhibitors. Lack of risk taking and a concern for accuracy also are thought to be learning obstacles (Botwinick, 1973; Canestrari, 1963, 1968). Jones (1979) noted that learner's attitudes and self-concept perceptions may have as much effect as age on learning abilities.

Obviously, the teacher of older adults needs to utilize those methods or approaches that minimize the possibility of making errors or entering perceived high risk situations. However, Palmore (1970) suggested that the normal aging person tends to find ways of compensating for losses in one area by increases in other areas. Those responsible for guiding the learning of older adults need to find ways of facilitating such compensating abilities.

### Speed and Pacing

Several steps can be taken by the teacher of older adults in relation to speed problems. For example, the time allowed for tests or for responses to queries can be made flexible. Facilitating self-paced learning wherever possible also is important. Finally, speed can be controlled in most instances involving older adults as learners by using appropriate pacing procedures (e.g., see Arenberg and Robertson-Tchabo, 1977; Labouvie-Vief, 1976).

The instructor's role also is important in terms of the speed of presenting information or expectations for their learner's response speed (Witte and Freund, 1976). Most authorities suggest that there is a natural slowing of the learning process that occurs with age; nevertheless, the relationship to cognitive capacity is not completely understood. Slowing is most likely associated with several factors which relate in some way to learning, for example, perceptual deficits, response time, processing time, and remembering time.

If a teacher allows for adequate response time, for example, research suggests that the elderly will perform about as well as younger people (Eisdorfer, 1965). The reverse of adequate time affecting older adult learning can be inferred from such findings. Thus, current and potential teachers of older persons should examine how they pace the learning

activities, how they design learning materials, and how they obtain feedback on their own effect in the classroom.

In short, a variety of procedures are available in working with older adults. However, one should be aware of limitations in the various research findings. For example, complicated experimental instructions have resulted in misconceptions (Arenberg and Robertson-Tchabo, 1977). Similarly, complicated assignments or task instructions from the teacher may create the same problem in the classroom. The ways in which information is presented also appear related to cognitive performance (Arenberg, 1976).

Organizational and Associational Abilities

The literature is fairly conclusive that older people have more difficulties than younger people in maintaining organizational effectiveness in terms of learning. A hesitancy by learners to organize, the specificity or ordering required, and the amount of pressure applied by teachers are some of the main concerns in this area.

Generally, many experts recommend that a variety of advanced organizing techniques are essential for efficient learning. Reviewing or visual analogies, instructor assistance in helping learners to integrate new information with old, and encouraging practice techniques also are important organizing means. A plethora of advanced organizers and cuing devices are suggested, including the use of outlines, abstracts, and summaries, prequestioning techniques, instructional objectives, and pictures or other visuals.

Closely related to organizational deficiencies are the widespread findings that older people have difficulties in generating mediators, i.e., associational relationships between inputs and outputs. Catino et al. (1977) found that older persons often require more time to form such relationships and may not want to use symbolic or novel forms of mediation. S.K. Gordon (1975) found that verbal mediators seemed to be used the most. Several researchers recommend using verbal, visual, or imaginal mediators. The instructor of older adults can assist by constructing acronyms, rhymes, mental images, lists, tables, and pictures.

#### THE NEED FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

It should be clear that a great deal of general research interest exists in this area. Of less interest is the study of older adults in terms of learning activity, needs, and potential. Nevertheless, interest in these areas appears to be on the increase.

One of the main problems is that much of the research on the learning capacity of older adults has been cross-sectional in nature. That is, we have some understanding of generational and demographic differences but no real comprehension of change over time. The few longitudinal studies conducted to date often demonstrated a dimension of knowledge about learning activity and ability quite different from cross-sectional findings. It seems imperative, therefore, that considerable resources be invested in long-term efforts.

A related situation is the fact that much of what we know even from cross-sectional research comes from the study of just the "old": the retired, those involved with senior programs, and the institutionalized. Thus, middle-aged and younger adults as learners need to be studied in light of their current abilities, preparation for later life learning, and changing need patterns.

Another problem has been the frequently unknown effect of researchers themselves on study results. The types of testing procedures, the definition of the problem in relation to existing theory, and the "halo effect" experienced by subjects all have potential bearing on results. Clearly there is a need for improved methodologies specifically designed for research on the older person.

Perhaps the most positive sign of growth in understanding how to be successful in guiding the older adult learner is the

merging of adult education and gerontology that has taken place in the last decade. Resear hers trained in both areas are now engaged in study. Many practitioners are receiving training based on much of the research reviewed in this paper. Educational gerontology as a field of study is gaining popularity.

A variety of suggestions can be gleaned from the literature reviewed here. Several of these are provided below. Additional suggestions undoubtedly will be generated by the readers.

- 1. There is a need for the development of teaching techniques specific to older adults. Research on such topics as effectiveness, timing, pacing, and sequencing will help in such development.
- 2. A related need is to understand how to teach the teachers to become adept at utilizing various techniques. The need to understand how human service practitioners who receive much of their training through in-service activities is especially important.
- 3. Current research about learning mode preferences suggests that many older people select themselves as the primary planners and directors of their learning. Thus, we need to know more about factors of success associated with self-directed learning, how resources are acquired or developed, and how self-directed learning can be facilitated by institutionally-sponsored people.
- 4. Although much is known about the learning needs and interests of older persons, more research is required in order to stay abreast of changing needs, to better understand such dichotomous categories as "instrumental" versus "expressive," and to determine how program planning can be tied to needs assessment efforts.
- 5. The literature revealed that much is known about the learning capacity and problems of older people. However, conflicting findings regarding what still needs to be known is evident. Additional research on memory, learning detriments, non-cognitive factors associated with learning, and related topics is required.
- 6. The contextual model described earlier (Hultsch, 1977)
  appears to be an evolving area of understanding how adults
  learn. An exciting area of future study will be to determine
  how the older person interacts with and integrates new
  knowledge.

Although these few suggestions are broad in nature, they provide an overall awareness of what lies ahead as we strive to better understand how to guide the older adult learner. Even if the readers do not personally undertake the required research, it is hoped that they will be stimulated to stay abreast of such research, to think critically about the findings, and to challenge those doing research to produce practical and useful knowledge.

Knowledge on how to cope with the learning limitations of older adults is growing at a rapid rate. The unparalleled capacity of the aging person to cope, compensate, and build on the experience of a lifetime of living is a marvel to see. We are only beginning to obtain a glimpse of that potential.

# APPENDIX A

SOME ANECDOTAL EXPERIENCES RELATED TO WORKING WITH OLDER ADULTS

How to Fail without Really frying!,

The following is an example of a situation described to me by the person after she had taken one of my graduate courses: A.F., social worker for a county welfare department, was asked to make a presentation on changes in the food stamp procedures to a group of congregate meal participants. She was a little uncertain about the subject matter, so she carefully outlined her talk. She arrived early enough to set up a podium at the opposite end of the room away from the serving line. Precisely at 12:15 p.m. she began her talk. She finished reading her material and looked up to see a hand in the air from a person sitting at the table nearest her. She said she would answer questions individually after she moved to a table and sat down. On the way home she mused to herself, "I thought that I would have more than two people come up with questions."

A Class on Recreational Leadership

A few years ago I was asked to teach a group of senior center' volunteers how to organize recreational and physical fitness activities for center participants. All volunteers were retired, mostly from white collar or homemaker roles, and in good health.

I designed a variety of potential learning activities and put together a booklet of resource materials. I arrived at the designated classroom for the first session about an hour early, after discovering I had been assigned a large room where movies were shown and that contained rows of chairs lined up, I preceded to commandeer the staff conference room. I quickly arranged tables in a square with chairs around the outside edge.



Turning on all the lights, opening some curtains along a set of north windows, and bringing in the coffee pot from the other room completed my initial preparation.

As the participants drifted in, I introduced myself, got coffee for those who wanted it, and had each person pin on a name tag so I could begin memorizing names. After all had assembled, I began an informal discussion or my background, why I had been asked to help, and some of the potential topics for study. Participants slowly began to join in the discussion; we spent about thirty minutes sharing perceptions of recreation needs they might want to respond to in the future.

I then asked them to work in three small groups of five each for the purpose of further discussing potential study areas, adding new ideas, and prioritizing what we should work on during our sessions together. I provided each group with sheets outlining several possible study areas and asked them to select a moderator or recorder for purposes of sharing their results with the other groups. I "floated" among the groups clarifying points and answering questions.

After about forty-five minutes of discussion, each leader shared the group's results. I recorded them with a large, black magic marker on some white newsprint taped to the walls. We all discussed the three group reports, merged needs or topics of concern together where possible, agreed on an agenda of activity for the next five weeks, and committed ourselves to building a notebook of ideas, resources, and other notes of personal meaning as a supplement for the resources notebook I then provided.

I concluded the session by involving them all in learning some physical fitness and stretching activities that could be used with older persons and suggested some public library material available for them if they were interested.

During that next week I organized the remaining five sessions, secured a film on recreation and leisure for a session, made arrangements for a 4-H folk dance team and a cardio-pulmonary resuscitation team from a local hospital to put on demonstrations during two sessions. (These last two needs had emerged as extra interests during the group discussion.) I also outlined these on a class planning sheet. I then boned up on several of the recreational activities I wanted to demonstrate during the remaining sessions.

The second and third sessions proceeded nicely with the two demonstrations, with my leading the participants in several activities, and with a positive group rapport. The second

session had started with a brief discussion of the plan for the remaining sessions, a general confirmation of the plan, and my promise that we would take stock of where we were and how we were doing periodically. Each three-hour session was broken down into fifty minute units with breaks in between and a concluding fifteen-minute discussion of topics covered and ideas for their resource notebook. I summarized the main points by writing them on a chalkboard and then distributed a summary of what was covered at the beginning of the next session. By the third session participants began freely sharing ideas, resources, and material with each other. One person typed a summary of several books she had read during the two weeks and distributed it to the others. I attempted throughout not to go too fast, to make sure each activity was well understood, to speak clearly and loudly; and to tie all points. or information on activities back to their own experiences.

At the conclusion of the third session, I asked each participant to complete an open-ended assessment sheet which called for feelings about the progress of the training effort, suggestions for new topics to be covered, and any other concerns. In reading the forms, I noted that five of the participants expressed in some way the concern of still not having the confidence to lead others in the various activities they were learning. Subsequently, I reorganized the fourth and fifth sessions to include material for planning activities and leading others. This was done in order to facilitate their getting up in front of the group and to allow time for talking about factors associated with aging that may affect learning or involvement.

At the beginning of the fourth session I shared my observations about this new need: I obtained general agreement that we should spend more time on developing leadership skills and building general awareness of the aging process. We proceeded to do this. Although fewer activities, were learned, each participant had a chance to lead an activity. During the fifth session, a commitment was made by ten of the participants to organize and direct a recreational session at a senior center within the next week.

The sixth class period was devoted to a discussion of the teaching experiences of the eight who had actually directed sessions, sharing of the resource booklets developed by each participant, and general answering of questions. A self-evaluation of progress and learnings was requested from each person through an open ended form: participants also completed a form that evaluated the instructor. A discussion of further needs and learning interests concluded the experience.



Serving as a Conference Resource Person

The author frequently is asked to serve as a resource person for a conference or workshop. Although not specifically related to the older learner, this anecdotal note about an in-service training activity will illustrate some concepts related to this paper.

Last-year I was asked to-serve as resource leader for a session on program planning during an in-service training program at a community college. Initially, they wanted me to run two, back-to-back, one-hour sessions for rotating groups. I negotiated a two-hour session for a single group. I also asked for a room large enough to seat all the participants in a circle (sixty-four attended), a chalk board, a newsprint pad and stand, adequate sound amplification, and an overhead projector with a screen.

I developed a sheet outlining possible topics for discussion and study based on my perceptions of what the probable participants did as well as feedback from a phone conversation with a former student who now worked as a teacher in a community college. I also put together sets of transparencies on various topics related to program planning, developed several summary handouts on what I felt were crucial areas, and put together an annotated bibliography on various books, journals, and other material on program planning.

To begin the session, I had the participants introduce themselves and briefly describe their positions. I then described what I believed to be some skills crucial for effective program planning. I handed out the sheet of potential topics and asked them to pull their chairs into new circles of about ten people each. They were asked to discuss the topics in light of their most important needs and to be prepared for sharing the group's three most important needs in a report back to the larger group. This required negotiation and prioritizing.

During the group reports I summarized on newsprint the prioritized topics, merging or seeking clarity where appropriate, and, finally, obtaining consent to present information on six topics. Approximately fifty minutes were required for these activities.

As participants took a ten minute coffee break, I quickly pulled out of my box of resource materials, the various sets of transparencies, and notes relating to the prioritized topics. During the second hour I introduced concepts using the transparencies as stimulators, I also summarized points made during the questioning and sharing. Since the third topic was

one for which I was unprepared, I encouraged some sharing and contributions on the topic from the participants.

We only were able to get through four of the topics because of some excellent large group interactions. Therefore, during the last ten minutes I encouraged each person to seek information on their own, to continue their dialogue in small groups on the job, and to ask their supervisors to provide additional in-service training opportunities. I distributed the summary sheets, the annotated bibliography, and a single sheet containing a few open-ended evaluation questions. The majority filled out the evaluation forms and I engaged in dialogue with several who stayed after the two-hour period ended. I later summarized the evaluation sheets and added some perceptions regarding future training needs in a report sent to the community college administrative staff.

Developing a Mediator (Dear Sir, I am Good)

One day some colleagues and I were discussing a way of remembering the names and order of five components in a model for learning they had been working on: differentiating, structuring, integrating, abstracting, and generalizing. I pushed the pencil around for awhile and came up with a sentence using the first letter from each word in order; Dear sir, I am good! It took, it works, and now my colleagues and I often refer to the dear-sir-I-am-good model in our normal conversation.

Remembering Cues-

A colleague works as a volunteer in a senior citizens center. She uses a "trick" for helping a person or group to remember some name that is on the tip of the tongue but not quite out yet. She has the person or the group go through the alphabet, letter by letter, and throw out several names beginning with each letter. Very frequently it results in the remembered name, usually to the delight and amazement of all.

Night and Day

During a research project on successful aging determinants, I interviewed several people in nursing homes. \*One person, in his nineties, was an early agricultural specialist in Iowa. He has always remained active, writes, carries out research, and is perceived by all who know him or work around him to be mentally active, even though he is now in a state of decreasing health, existing primarily in a small room, and with mobility possible only through the use of a walker.



The same day I interviewed him, I noticed another person slumping in an outer reception room chair. He was in a fairly disheveled state, clothing awry, and not noticing anything around him. I asked a nurse about his condition and she said he was having senility problems but enjoyed sitting in the lobby to watch the people go by.

I approached him, got his attention, and eventually started a conversation. After some difficult starts, I got him talking about himself. It turned out he was seventy-six years old, his wife had been dead for five years, and his children were all living on the West Coast. He, too, had been an agricultural specialist until his retirement ten years prior. We talked about his experiences, his grandchildren, and his views on today's agriculture. During the hour long conversation he transformed before my eyes into the image of my other interviewee. He slowly straightened up in his chair, became animated, straightened up his clothing, and ran his hand through his hair. He smiled, he talked wisely, he wished for the future, he became alive!

Two hours later I passed by again on my way home. An untouched tray of food was lying on a table next to him, he was slumped down in his chair, glassy eyed, his clothing again crumpled. It was a long time before I could think about much of anything else.

Maudlin? Perhaps! But what is that almost mysterious quality called "human potential"? What is our role as educators in enhancing that potential? What should we be doing that we are not?

### Eldercollege

A year ago the Iowa State University Alumni Foundation funded a project called Eldercollege. The goal of the project was to provide college-level education to older persons. The following is an outline of the sequential activities in that project. It is included in order to give the reader a sense of how the staff attempted to employ what we could from the literature and theory on providing educational opportunities to older adults.

1. Proposal conceptualized - 3 months, May to July

Ideas discussed with colleagues
Literature reviewed
Trip to Kentucky and Washington, D.C. to review similar
programs and to seek advice
Draft of proposal written

Draft discussed with chief administrators Final draft completed

2. Proposal submitted to funding source - 1 month, August

Initial proposal was designed to be the development of a prototype program and the funding source was alerted in the initial stages of the development effort that the proposal would be coming

The planner, a potential staff member, and a chief administrator met with the funding source administrator to discuss the

An initial favorable response facilitated the bureaucratic machinery to be initiated

3. Funding approval received - 1 month, September

proposal

Office established Staff hired and oriented Master Gantt chart (calendar of events) developed Project started

4. Data collection phase - 3 months, October to December

Advisory council consisting of representatives of potential clientele was formed and met with twice

Master mailing list compiled, from various sources

Additional literature reviewed (ERIC and various other sources)

Informational letters seeking advice written to similar projects around the country

Progress-assessment report written Instrument development initiated

Advisory council and panel of experts judge instrument for content validity

Instrument pilot tested with ten people

Outside evaluator reviews pilot test data and meets with the staff

A second draft of the instrument is developed and reviewed by the staff

A final draft is developed

The instrument is mailed to a sample of 600 (the initial mailing, two follow-up mailings, and some phone calling resulted in a 65 percent return rate)

5. Data analysis phase - 2 months, January to February

Twelve random telephone validations completed

Data coded

Data computer analyzed and compared with existing theory

Staff put the data through various decision-making screens



(institutional, philosophical, pre-retirement counseling
 office, and available resources)
Initial report of need developed
Staff, chief administrators, and outside evaluator react to
 report
Progress report provided to funding source
Final report developed

6. Program planning and prototype development - 1 month, March.

Two highest ranked needs selected Objectives for a program developed (measurable) Advisory council reacts Initial program outlined (two courses) Staff evaluates initial plans, checks Gantt chart, and makes appropriate modifications Instructional staff identified (ten different instructors) Training materials on how to teach older people developed Instructors trained Support material needed for the courses identified Library and media resources obtained Parking permits for students arranged Coffee and snacking arrangements made Necessary fees for course established and payment arrangements made Publicity outlined and developed including brochures for mailing, newspaper advertising, and literature for offices dealing with older people Evaluation techniques and procedures developed including a progress assessment completed by the outside evaluator Régistration procedures developed Accounting procedures developed

7. Assessment of commitment to proceed - 1 month, March

One course did not have enough students to warrant it beginning
Students all agreed to enter the other course
Staff determined that time of day (any evening) just would not fill with elderly even though initial needs information showed that they would

8. Program (course) initiated - 2 months, April and May

Students enrolled Course monitored

Room arrangements finalized

9. End of course evaluation - 1 month, May

Course content evaluation form developed Instructor evaluation forms developed Future needs and interests form developed Outside evaluator consulted Instruments administered

10: End of course banquet held - May

Administrators, funding agency people, staff, and students (100 attended)
Deemed a huge success

- 11. Overall evaluation completed by staff and outside evaluation completed June
- 12. Funding for enlargement and continuation being sought

#### APPENDIX B

RESOURCES

Periodicals.

In addition to a number of significant books cited in this paper, numerous journals include articles related to learning and the older person. Some of the major ones are as follows:

Adult Education. Published quarterly by the Adult Education Association of the U.S.A. A research-oriented journal that frequently contains reports of studies or theoretical pieces related to education of the elderly.

Adult Education
Studies in Adult Education
101 Gabel Hall
Northern Illinois University
De Kalb, Illinois 60115

Aging. Published bi-monthly by the federal Administration on Aging. This journal, the official publication of the U.S. Administration on Aging, reports on programs for, by, and with the elderly.

Aging
Superintendent of Documents
Government Printing Office
Washington, D.C. 20402

Educational Gerontology: An International Quarterly. Published quarterly by Hemisphere Publishing. A combination practitioner and research journal that includes a wide variety of information

related to all aspects of working with the elderly.

Hemisphere Publishing Corporation 1025 Vermont Avenue, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20005

50 Plus. Published monthly by the Retirement Living Publishing Company. This periodical occasionally includes articles of interest to educators of older adults.

50 Plus 99 Garden Street Marion, Ohio 43302

The Gerontologist. Published bi-monthly by the Gerontological Society. This journal is aimed at the professional practitioner in the field of gerontology.

The Gerontologist
Gerontological Society
One Dupont Circle
Washington, D.C. 20036

International Journal of Aging and Human Development. Published eight times per year by the Baywood Publishing Company. Included are psychological and sociological studies of aging and the aged. Occasional articles relate to such topics as educational needs and programs of the elderly.

Baywood Publishing Company, Inc. 120 Marine Street P.O. Box D ... Farmingdale, New York 11735

Journal of Gerontology. Published bi-monthly by the Gerontological Society. This periodical includes a variety of articles written primarily for the professional researcher.

Journal of Gerontology Gerontological Society One Dupont Circle Washington, D.C. 20036

Lifelong Learning: The Adult Years. Published ten times a year by the Adult Education Association of the U.S.A. It is directed toward the professional adult education practitioner. There usually is at least one article per issue related in some way to working with the elderly.

Lifelong Learning: The Adult Years
Adult Education Association of the U.S.A
810 Eighteenth Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20006



Modern Maturity. Published bi-monthly by the American Association of Retired People. This periodical occasionally contains articles related to the teaching of elderly or to the elderly as teachers.

Modern Maturity
American Association of Retired People
1909 K Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20049

Professional Associations

In addition to state and regional associations, three of the major national groups are as follows:

Adult Education Association of the U.S.A. (AEA). This association sponsors an annual conference, publishes Adult Education and Lifelong Learning: The Adult Years, and makes available to members and others a wide variety of publications related to the adult education field. One of the central subgroups within the association is the Commission on Education for Aging that puts on meetings and publishes a newsletter. The association also has a Washington office and serves as a voice for the adult education field.

Adult Education Association of the U.S.A. 810 Eighteenth Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20006

Association for Gerontology in Higher Education (AGHE). This association sponsors an annual meeting, publishes a newsletter and other materials, and serves as a voice for educational gerontology professionals in higher education through its Washington office.

Association for Gerontology in Higher Education One Dupont Circle Suite 520 Washington, D.C. 20036

Gerontological Society. This association publishes The Gerontologist and the Journal of Gerontology and a variety of other materials. It also sponsors an annual conference, has a Washington office, and serves as a voice for a wide variety of gerontology professionals.

Gerontological Society
One Dupont Circle
Suite 520
Washington, D.C. 20036

**Polítical Groups** 

A wide variety of political groups have been formed in the past decade to provide assistance to the elderly or those working in the field of aging, e.g.,

Select Committee on Aging. This committee has a staff that publishes materials, carries out special studies, and generally represents the interests of the elderly in the House. They publish regular reports and newsletters that are distributed to those on their mailing list.

Select Committee on Aging
U.S. House of Representatives .
Room 712
House Office Building Annex 1
300 New Jersey Avenue, S.E.
Washington, D.C. 20515

Special Committee on Aging. This committee also has a staff and publishes materials, carries out special studies, and generally represents in the Senate the interests of the elderly. They publish regular reports and newsletters.

Special Committee on Aging United States Senate Room G-233 Dirksen Senate Office Building Washington, D.C. 20510

Other Groups. Most states have State Commissions on Aging and local or Area Agencies on Aging which exist to provide materials, assist the practitioner, and serve as a local or regional voice for the elderly.

Professional Training Opportunities

One or more graduate or undergraduate training programs on gerontology, educational gerontology, or adult education exist in nearly every state. Check your nearby university and college catalogues, your State Department of Education, or your State Commission on Aging for more information. In addition, the federal Administration on Aging has helped to form training centers and educational consortia throughout the country.



### REFERENCES

- Agruso, V.M., Jr. Learning in the Later Years. New York, New York: Academic Press, 1978.
- Aiello, D.R. and Rogers, C.J. The Effects of Presentation Variables Upon Clustering and Recall Performance in the Elderly. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Southwestern Psychological Association, Albuquerque, New Mexico, 1976. (ED 149 119)
- Aiken, L. <u>Later Life</u>. Philadelphia, Pennsylvania: W.B. Saunders Company, 1978.
- Alpaugh, P.D. et al. "Age and Creativity: Implications for Education and Teachers." Educational Gerontology.

  1(January-March, 1976): 17-40.
- Arenberg, D. Changes With Age in Learning and Memory. Paper presented at the annual convention of the American Psychological Association, Washington, D.C., 1976. (ED 137 665)
- . "The Effects of Auditory Augmentation on Visual Retention on Young and Old Subjects." <u>Journal of Gerontology</u>. 32(1977): 192-195.
- and Robertson, E.A. "The Older Individual as a Learner." Learning for Aging. Edited by S. Grabowski and W.D. Mason. Washington, D.C.: Adult Education Association of the USA, n.d.
- and Robertson-Tchabo, E.A. "Learning and Aging."

  Handbook of the Psychology of Aging. Edited by J.E.

  Birren and K.W. Schaie. New York, New York: Van
  Nostrand and Reinhold, 1977.
- Ausubel, D.P. The Psychology of Meaningful Verbal Learning. New York, New York: Grune and Stratton, 1963.
- Baltes, M.M. and Barton, E.M. "New Approaches Toward Aging: A Case for the Operant Model." Educational Gerontology. 2 (October-December, 1977): 382-405.

- Baltes, P.B. and Labouvie, G.V. "Adult Development of Intellectual Performance: Description, Explanation and Modification." The Psychology of Adult Development and Aging. Edited by C. Eisdorfer and M.P. Lawton. Washington, D.C.: American Psychological Association, 1973.
- Baltes, P.B. and Schaie, K.W. "Aging and IQ: The Myth of the Twilight Years." Psychology Today. 7 (March, 1974): 35-40.
- Bengston, V.L. et al. "The Impact of Social Structure on Aging Individuals." Handbook of the Psychology of Aging.

  Edited by J.E. Birren and K.W. Schaie. New York, New York: Van Nostrand and Reinhold, 1977.
- Birren, J.E. "Psychological Aspects of Aging: Intellectual unctioning." The Gerontologist. 8(1968): 16-19.
- . "Age and Decision Strategies." <u>Interdisciplinary</u>
  <u>Topics in Gerontology</u>. Edited by A.T. Welford and J.E.
  Birren. Basel, Switzerland: S. Karger, 1969.
- and Woodruff, P. "Human Development Over the Life
  Span Through Education." <u>Life-Span Developmental</u>

  <u>Psychology</u>. Edited by P. Baltes and W. Schaie. New
  York, New York: Academic Press, 1973.
- Bolton, E.B. "Cognitive and Non-cognitive Factors that Affect Learning in Older Adults and Their Implications for Instruction." <u>Educational Gerontology</u>. 3(October-December, 1978): 331-344. (EJ 188 465)
- Boshier, R. and Pickard L. "Citational Patterns of Articles Published in Adult Education." Adult Education. 30(Fall, 1979).
- Botwinick, J. <u>Cognitive Process in Maturity and Old Age</u>. New York, New York: Springer, 1967.
- Research Findings. New York, New York: Springer, 1973.
- of Aging. Edited by J.E. Birren and K.W. Schaie. New York, New York: Van Nostrand and Reinhold, 1977.

- Botwinick, J. Aging and Behavior (Second edition). New York, New York: Springer, 1978.
- Butler, R. Why Survive Being Old in America. New York, New York: Harper and Row, 1975.
- Calhoun, R.D. and Gounard, B.R. "Meaningfulness, Presentation Rate, List Length, and Age in Elderly Adults' Paired-Associate Learning." <u>Educational Gerontology</u>. 4(January-March, 1979): 49-56. (EJ 193 772)
- Canestrari, R.E., Jr. "Paced and Self-Paced Learning in Young and Elderly Adults." <u>Journal of Gerontology</u>. 18(1963): 165-168.
- \_\_\_\_\_. "Age Changes in Acquisition." Human Aging and Behavior. Edited by G.A. Talland. New York, New York: Academic Press, 1968.
- Carpenter, W.L. The Relationship Between Age and Information
  Processing Capacity and Age and Channel Capacity of
  Adults. | Ph.D. Dissertation, Tallahassee: Florida State
  University, 1967.
- Catino, C. et al. "Mediation in Children and the Elderly as a Function of Memory Capabilities." <u>Journal of Genetic</u>

  Psychology. 130(March, 1977): 35-47.
- Cattell, R.B. The Scientific Analysis of Personality.
  Baltimore, Maryland: Penguin, 1965.
- Craik, F.I.M. "Age Differences in Human Memory." Handbook of the Psychology of Aging. Edited by J.E. Birren and K.W. Schaie. New York, New York: Van Nostrand and Reinhold, 1977.
  - and Masini, P.I. "Age Differences in the Temporal Integration of Language." <u>British Journal of Psychology</u>: <u>General</u>. 104(1975): 268-294.
- Cross, K.P. Accent on Learning. San Francisco, California: Jossey-Bass, Publishers, 1977.
- ; Valley, J.R.; and Associates. <u>Planning Non-Traditional</u>
  <u>Programs</u>. San Francisco, California: Jossey-Bass,
  Publishers, 1975.
- Cumming, E.M. "Further Thoughts on the Theory of Disengagement."

  <u>International Social Science Journal</u>. 15(1963): 377-393.

- and Henry, W.E. Growing Old: The Process of Disengagement. New York, New York: Basic Books, 1961.
- DeCrow, R. New Learning for Older Americans. Washington, D.C.:
  Adult Education Association of the U.S.A, n.d.
- Dickinson, G. <u>Teaching Adults</u>. Toronto, Ontario: New Press, 1973.
- Dullaert, J. "Teaching Psychology of the Aged: Six Obstacles to Learning." Teaching of Psychology. 4(April, 1977): 68-72. (EJ 159 593)
- Ecklund, L. "Aging and the Field of Education." Aging and Society. Volume 2. Edited by M.W. Riley et al. New York, New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1969.
- Eisdorfer, C. "Verbal Learning and Response Time in the Aged."

  Journal of Genetic Psychology. 107(1965): 15-22.
- et al. "Improvement of Learning in the Aged by Modification of Autonomic Nervous System Activity."

  Science. 1970(1970): 1327-1329.
- Eysenck, M.W. "Retrieval from Semantic Memory as a Function of Age:" <u>Journal of Gerontology</u>. 30(1975): 174-180. (EJ 122 297)
- Fozard, J.L. and Popkin, S.J. "Optimizing Adult Development: Ends and Means of an Applied Psychology of Aging." <u>American Psychologist</u>. 33(1978)::975-989.
- Freund, J.S. and Witte, K.L. "Paired-Associate Transfer: Age of Subjects, Anticipation Interval, Association Value, and Paradigm." American Journal of Psychology.

  89 (December, 1976): 695-705. (EJ 156 594)
- Glynn, S.M. and Muth, K.D. "Text-Learning Capabilities of Older Adults." <u>Educational Gerontology</u>. 4(July-September, 1979): 253-269.
- Goodrow, B.A. The Perceived Learning Needs and Interests of the Elderly in Knox County, Tennessee. Ph.D. Dissertation, Knoxville: University of Tennessee, 1974.
- \_\_\_\_\_. "Limiting Factors in Reducing Participation in Older Adult Learning Opportunities." Gerontologist. 15(October, 1975): 518-422. (EJ 125 577)

- Gordon, R.D. <u>Learning Process in Aging and Adulc Education</u>. 1975. (ED 106 734)
- Gordon, S.K. Adult Age Differences in Storage and Retrieval

  Processes in the Retention of Related Sentences. Paper
  presented at the annual meeting of the American Psychological
  Association, New Orleans, Louisiana, 1974. (ED 099 752)
- Goulet, L.R. General and Specific Interference Factors in Retention. Paper presented at the American Psychological Association Convention, Miami Beach, Florida, 1970. (ED 044 710)
- Gounard, B.R. and Hulicka, I.M. A Cognitive Problem-Solving
  Approach to Learning in Later Adulthood: Paper presented
  at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research
  Association, New York, 1977. (ED 154 965)
  Printed as "Maximizing Learning Efficiency in Later
  Adulthood: A Cognitive Problem-Solving Approach."

  Educational Gerontology. 2(October-December, 1977):
  417-427. (EJ 169 291)
- Graney, M.J. and Hays, W.C. "Senior Students: Higher Education After Age 62." Educational Gerontology. \*1(October-December, 1976): 343-360.
- Gross, R. The Lifelong Learner. New York, New York: Simon and Schuster, 1977.
- Grotelueschen, A.D. <u>Influence of Cognitive and Affective</u>
  Factors on Adult <u>Learning: Three Experimental Studies.</u>
  Final Report. Urbana: University of Illinois, Center for Instructional Research and Curriculum Evaluation, 1972.
  (ED 092 800)
- Haase, A.M.B. et al. "Teaching the Aged Reader: Issues and Strategies." <u>Educational Gerontology</u>. 4(July-September, 1979): 229-237.
- Havighurst, R.J. "Education Through the Adult Life Span."

  <u>Educational Gerontology</u>, 1(January-March, 1976): 41-51.

  (EJ 134 251)
- Hiemstra, R. "Continuing Education for the Aged: A Survey of Needs and Interests of Older People." <u>Adult Education</u>. 22(1972): 100-109.
  - . The Older Adult and Learning. Occasional Paper no.

    1. Ames, Towa: Adult and Extension Education, Towa State
    University, 1975.

- Lifelong Learning. Lincoln, Nebraska:
  Professional Educators Publications, 1976a.
- . "Older Adult Learning: Instrumental and Expressive Categories." Educational Gerontology. 1(1976): 227-236 (b). (EJ 144 261)
- \_\_\_\_\_. "The Older Adult's Learning Project."

  Educational Gerontology. 1(1976): 331-341 (c).

  (EJ\_146\_171)
  - "Instrumental and Expressive Learning: Some Comparisons." <u>Journal of Aging and Human Development</u>. 8(1977-78): 161-168. (EJ 167 283)
  - and Long, R. "A Survey of 'Felt' Versus 'Real'
    Needs of Physical Therapists." Adult Education.
    24(Summer, 1974): 270-279.
- Hixson, L.E. Formula for Success: A Step by Step Procedure for Organizing A Local Institute of Lifetime Learning.

  Long Beach, California: American Association of Retired Persons; Washington, D.C.: National Retired Teachers Association, 1968. (ED 028 366)
- Holcomb, C.A. "The Cloze Procedure and Older Adults: Effects of Age and Schooling." <u>Educational Gerontology</u>.
  4(July-September, 1979): 279-295.
- Horn, J.L. and Cattell, R.B. "Refinement and Test of the Theory of Fluid and Crystallized Intelligence." <u>Journal of Educational Psychology</u>. 57(1966): 253-270.
- . "Age Differences in Fluid and Crystallized Intelligence." Acta Psychologies. 26(1967): 107-129.
- Horn, J.L. and Donaldson, G. "On the Myth of Intellectual Decline in Adulthood." American Psychologist. 31(1976); 701-719.
- Hulicka, I.M. "Age Differences in Retention as a Function of Interference." <u>Journal of Gerontology</u>, 22(1967); 186-184.
- and Grossman, J.L. "Age-Group Comparisons for the Use of Mediators in Paired Associate Learning." <u>Journal</u> of Gerontology. 22(1967): 46-51.
- Hulicka, I.M. and Wheeler, D. "Recall Scores of Old and Young People as a Function of Registration Intervals." Educational Gerontology. 1(1976): 361-372.

- Hultsch, D.F. "Adult Age Difference in Free Classification and Free Recall." Developmental Psychology. 4(1971): 338-342.
  - . "Adult Age Differences in Retrieval: Trace- Dependent and Cue-Dependent Forgetting." Developmental Psychology. I1(1975): 197-201.
- . "Changing Perspectives on Basic Research in Adult Learning and Memory." <u>Educational Gerontology</u>. 2(October-December, 1977): 367-382. (EJ\_169 288)
- Jackson, D.W. "Relationship of Residence, Education, and Socialization to Cognitive Tasks in Normal People of Advanced Old Age." <u>Psychological Reports</u>. 35 (August, 1974): 423-426.. (EJ 110 041)
- Jarvik, L.F. "Thoughts on the Psychology of Aging." American Psychologist. 30(1975): 576-583.
- Jones, E.E. "Adult Education and the Older Adult." Educational Gerontology. 4(October-Decmeber, 1979): 349-354.
- Jones, H.E. and Conrad, H.S. "The Growth and Decline of Intelligence." Genetic Psychology Monographs. 15(1933); 233-298.
- Jones, J.E. "Teaching' Art to the Elderly: Research and Practice."

  <u>Educational Gerontology</u>. 5(January-March, 1980): 17-31
- Kasworm, C.E. "Old Dogs, Children, and Watermelon Wine."

  <u>Educational Horizons</u>. 56(Summer, 1978): 200-205.

  (EJ 189 860)
- Kausler, D.H. and Kleim, D.M. "Age Differences in Processing Relevant Versus Irrelevant Stimuli in Multiple-Item Recognition Learning." Journal of Gerontology: 33(1978): 87-93.
  - Keitz, S.M. and Gounard, B.R. "Age Differences in Adults' Free Recall of Pictorial and Work Stimuli." <u>Educational</u> Gerontology. 1(1976): 237-241. (EJ 144 262)
  - Kidd, J.R. "Adult Learning in the 1970's." Adult Learning:

    Issues and Innovations. Edited by R.M. Smith. DeKalb:

    ERIC Clearinghouse in Career Education, Northern Illinois
    University, 1976. (ED /3//97)
  - Knowles, M.S. The Modern Practice of Adult Education. New York, New York: Association Press, 1970.

- \_\_\_\_\_. Self-Directed Learning. New York, New York:
  Association Press, 1975.
- Knox, A.B. Adult Development and Learning. San Francisco, California: Jossey-Bass, 1977.
- . "Helping Auults to Learn." Yearbook of Adult and Continuing Education, 1978-79. Chicago, Illinois: Marquis Academic Media, 1978.
- Kuhlen, R.G. "Motivational Changes: During the Adult Years."

  <u>Psychological Background of Adult Education</u>. Syracuse,

  New York: Publications in Continuing Education, 1970.
- Labouvie-Vief, G. "Toward Optimizing Cognitive Competence in Later Life." <u>Educational Gerontology</u>. 1(January-March, 1976): 75-92.
- . "Adult Cognitive Development: In Search of Alternative Interpretations." Merrill-Palmer Quarterly. 23(1977): 227-263.
- Lebel, J. "Beyond Andragogy to Gerogogy," <u>Lifelong Learning</u>.

  1 (May, 1978): 16-18+.
- Lersten; K.C.' Some Psychological Aspects of Aging: Implications for Teaching and Learning. Paper presented at the annual conference of the Rocky Mountain Educational Research Association, Albuquerque, New Mexico, 1974. (ED 109 093)
- Levine, N.R. "Validation of the Quick Test for Intelligence Screening of the Elderly." <u>Psychological Reports</u>. 29(August, 1971): 167-172. (EJ 045 264)
- Londoner, C.A. "Survival Needs of the Aged: Implications for Program Planning." Aging and Human Development.
  1(1971): 1-11.
- . "Instrumental and Expressive Education: A

  Basis for Needs Assessment and Planning." Introduction to
  Educational Gerontology. Edited by R.H. Sherron and D.B.

  Lumsden. Washington, D.C.: Hemisphere Publishing
  Corporation, 1978.
- March, G.B. et al. "Lifespan Education and the Older Adult: Living Is Learning." <u>Educational Gerontology</u>. 2(April-June, 1977): 163-172. (EJ 154 798)

- Marcus, E.E. <u>Factors Affecting the Self-Tmage of the Older-Aged</u>
  <u>Learner</u>. (ED 070 957)
- <u>Participation in Education</u>. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Gerontological Society, New York, New York, 1976. (ED 141 691)
- \_\_\_\_\_\_. "Effects of Age, Sex, and Status on Perception of the Utility of Educational Participation." \_\_\_\_\_Educational Gerontology. \_\_3(October-December, 1978): 295-319.
- McClusky, H.Y. "The Relevance of Psychology for Adult Education."

  Adult Education: Outlines of an Emerging Field of
  University Study. Edited by G. Jensen et al. Washington,
  D.C.: Adult Education Association of the USA, 1964.
  - . "The Adult as Learner." Management of the Urban.

    Crisis. Edited by S.E. Seashore and R.J. McNeill.

    New York, New York: Macmillan Company, 1971.
    - . "Education and Aging." A Manual on Planning
      Education Programs for Older Adults. Edited by A.
      Hendrickson. Tallahassee: Department of Adult Education,
      Florida State University, 1973.
  - . "Education for Aging: The Scope of the Field and Perspectives for the Future." Education for the Aging. Edited by S.M. Grabowski and W.D. Mason. Syracuse, New York: ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult Education, 1974.
- McMahon, A.T. "Needs for New Emphasis in Social and Educational Policy Toward the Elderly." Educational Gerontology. 4(April-June, 1979): 101-113.
- Merriam, S. "Interviewing the Aged: Some Considerations for the Adult Educator." <u>Adult Leadership</u>. 25(March, 1977): 215-216. (EJ 161 789)
- Meyer, S.L. "Andragogy and the Aging Adult Learner." Educational Gerontology: 2(April-June, 1977): 115-122.
- Monge, R.H. and Hultsch, D. "Paired-Associate Learning As A Function of Adult Age and the Length of the Anticipation and Inspection Intervals." <u>Journal of Gerontology</u>. 26(1971): 157-162.
- Moody, H.R. "Philosophical Presuppositions of Education for Old Age." Educational Gerontology. 1(January-March, 1976): 1-16.

- Mullan, C. and Gorman, L. "Facilitating Adaptation to Change:

  A Case Study in Retraining Middle-Aged and Older Workers at
  Aer Lingus." Industrial Gerontology. 15(1972): 23-29.
- Norman, D.A. Cognitive Organization and Learning. La Jolla, California: University of California, Center for Human Information Processing, 1973. (ED 083 543)
- Okun, M.A. "Implications of Geropsychological Research for the Instruction of Older Adults." Adult Education. 27(Spring, 1977): 139-155. (EJ 161 771)
- and Divesta, F.J. "Cautiousness in Adulthood As A Function of Age and Instruction." <u>Journal of Gerontology</u>. 31(1976): 571-576. (EJ 146 224)
- Okun, M.A. et al. <u>Effects of Specific Instructional Objectives</u> on Prose Learning Among the Elderly. Paper presented at the Gerontology Society, San Francisco, California, 1977.
- and Siegler, i.C. "The Perception of Outcome-Effort Covariation in Younger and Older Men. Educational Gerontology. 2(January-March, 1977): 27-32.
- Olbrick, E. and Thomae, H. "Empirical Findings to a Cognitive Theory of Aging." <u>International Journal of Behavioral</u> <u>Development</u>. 1(January, 1978): 67-82. (EJ 185-260)
- Palmore, E., ed. Normal Aging. Durham, North Carolina: Duke University Press, 1970.
- Penland, P. "Self-Initiated Learning." <u>Adult Education</u>. 29(Spring, 1979): 170-179.
- Peterson, D.A. "Life Span Education and Gerontology."

  The Gerontologist. 15(1975): 436-441 (EJ 125 580)
- \_\_\_\_\_. "Educational Gerontology: The State of the Art." Educational Gerontology. 1(1976): 61-73.
- Peterson, R.E. and Associates. <u>Lifelong Learning in America</u>. San Francisco, California: <u>Jossey-Bass Publishers</u>, 1979.
- Rabbitt, P.M. "An Age Decrement in the Ability to Ignore Irrelevant Information." <u>Journal of Gerontology</u>. 20(1965): 233-238.
  - . "Age and The Use of Structure in Transmitted Information." Human Age and Behavior. Edited by G.A. Talland. New York, New York: Academic Press, 1968.

- Raymond, B. J., "Free Recall Among The Aged." <u>Psychological</u> Reports. 29(December, 1971): 1179-1182. (EJ 053 155)
- Robertson-Tchabo, E.A. et al. "A Classical Mnemonic for Older Learners: A Trip That Works!" Educational Gerontology. 1(July-September, 1976): 215-226. (EJ 144 260)
- Schaie, K.W. "Toward A State Theory of Adult Cognitive Development." Journal of Aging and Human Development. 8(1977-78): 129-138.
  - and Strother, C.R. "A Cross-Sectional Study of Age Changes in Cognitive Behavior." <u>Psychological Bulletin</u>. 70(1968): 671-680.
- and Strother, F. Human Aging and Behavior. New York, New York: Academic Press, 1968.
- Schonfield, A.E. et al. "Recognition Tests of Dichotic Listening and Age Variable." <u>Journal of Gerontology</u>. 27(1972):
- Sheppard, N.A. <u>Educational Opportunities for Older Persons:</u>

  <u>A Review. IN Series 170.</u> Columbus, Ohio: ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult, Career, and Vocational Education, 1979. (ED 18/192)
- Simon, J.R. and Pouraghabagher, A.R. "The Effect of Aging on the Stages of Processing in a Choice Reaction Time Task."

  Journal of Gerontology. 33(1978): 553-561. (ÈJ 182 983)
- Symposium on Adult Learning Psychology: Implications for Higher Education. Buffalo: State University of New York at Buffalo, Division of Continuing Education, 1973. (ED 094 173)
- Taub, H.A. "Free and Ordered Recall: Coding as a Function of Age." Journal of Genetic Psychology. 131(September, 1977): 75-81. (EJ 170 314)
- Terman, L.M. and Oden, M.H. <u>The Gifted Group of Mid-Life</u>. Stanford, California: Stanford University Press, 1959.
- Thorndike, E.L. Adult Learning. New York, New York: Macmillan Company, 1928.
- Tough, A.M. "Major Learning Efforts: Recent Research and Future Directions." <u>Adult Education</u>, 28(Summer, 1978): 250-263.
  - \_\_\_\_\_. <u>The Adult's Learning Projects</u>. Austin, Texas:, Learning Concepts, 1979.

- Treat, N.J. and Reese, H.W. "Age, Pacing, and Imagery in Paired-Associate Learning." <u>Developmental Psychology</u>. 12(1976): 119-124.
- Verner, C. and Davison, C.V. <u>Psychological Factors in Adult</u>
  <u>Learning and Instruction</u>. Tallahassee, Florida: Research
  Information Processing Center, Department of Adult Education,
  Florida State University, 1971. (ED 079 585)
  - . Physiological Factors in Adult Learning and

    Instruction. Tallahassee, Florida: Research Information
    Processing Center, Department of Adult Education, Florida
    State University, 1971. (ED 079 586)
- Wass, H. and West, C.A. "A Humanistic Approach to Education of Older Persons." <u>Educational Gerontology</u>. 2(October-December, 1977): 407-416. (EJ 169 290)
- White, M.A. and Hansen, M.D. "Guidelines for Achievement of Learner Satisfaction in Gerontological Short-Term Training." <u>Educational Gerontology</u>. 1(April-June, 1976): 193-197. (EJ 137 730)
- Wilkie, F.L. and Eisdorfer, C. "Intelligence and Blood Pressure and the Aged." <u>Science</u>. 173(1971): 959-962.
- Wilson, J.P. "Coping-Defense Employment in Problematic Interpersonal Situations." Small Group Behavior. 9 (February, 1978).
- \_\_\_\_\_et al. "Revitalizing Foundations for Research in Adult Learning." Proceedings of the Adult Education Research Conference. Vancouver, British Columbia, 1980.
- Winn, F.J., Jr. et al. "Meaningfulness and Interference as Factors on Paired-Associate Learning With the Aged."

  Educational Gerontology. 1(July-September, 1976):
  297-306. (EJ 144 270)
- Witkin, H.A. et al. <u>Psychological Differentiation</u>. New York, New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1962.
- . "Field Dependent and Field-Independent Cognitive Styles and Their Educational Implications." Review of Educational Research. 47(Winter, 1977)
- Witte, K.L. and Freund, J.S. "Paired-Associate Learning in Young and Old Adults as Related to Stimulus Concreteness and Presentation Methods." <u>Journal of Gerontology</u>. 31(1976): 186-192. (EJ 134 276)

Woodruff, D.S. and Walsh, D. "Research in Adult Learning: The Individual." The Gerontologist. 15(1975); 424-430. (EJ 125 578)

## SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Baltes, P.B. and Schale, K.W. "On the Plasticity of Intelligence in Adulthood and Old Age: Where Horn and Donaldson Fail." American Psychologist. 31(1976): 720-725.
- Baum, J. et al. <u>Interventions to Increase Enrollments of Older Adults at a University</u>. Paper presented at the conference of the Gerontological Society, New York, New York, October, 1977. (ED 155 536)
- Birren, J.E. et al. "Intellectual Capabilities, Aging, and Man's Environment." <u>Processes of Aging: Social and Psychological Perspectives. Volume I</u>. Edited by R.H. Williams et al. New York, New York: Atherton, 1963.
- Bransford, J.D. et al. "Toward Unexplaining Memory."

  Perceiving, Acting, and Knowing: Toward an Ecological

  Psychology. Edited by R. Shan and J.D. Bransford.

  Hillsdale, New Jersey: Erlbaum, 1977.
- Charles, D.C. "Symposium: Educational Psychology and the Adult Learner." A special issue of Contemporary Educational.

  Psychology to be published in 1980.
- Craik, F.I.M. and Lockhart, R.S. "Levels of Processing: A Framework for Memory Research." <u>Journal of Verbal</u>
  Learning and Verbal Behavior. 11(1972): 671-684.
- Cross, W. and Florio, C. "Adult Education: Key to Longer Life?" Kiwanis Magazine. (March, 1978): 28-30, 44-45.
- Davies, A.D.M. "Measures of Mental Deterioration in Aging and Brain Damage." <u>Psychological Functioning in the Normal Aging and Senile Aged</u>. Edited by S.M. Chown and K.F. Riegel. Basel, Switzerland: S. Karger, 1968.
- Domey, R.G. et al. "Dark Adaptation as a Function of Age and Time: II. A Derivation." <u>Journal of Gerontology</u>. 15(1960): 267-279.
- Gardner, E and Monge, R.H. "Adult Age Differences in Cognitive Abilities and Educational Background." Experimental Aging Research. 3(1977): 337-383.

- Gentile, L.M. and McMillan, M. "Reading: A Means of Renewal for the Aged." <u>Educational Gerontology</u>. 4(July-September, 1979): 215-223.
- Gordon, S.K. and Slevin, A.E. <u>Imagery and Sentence Retention in Elderly and Young Adults</u>. Paper presented at the Meeting of the Gerontological Society, Louisville, Kentucky, October, 1975.
- Grabowski, S. and Mason, W.D. <u>Learning for Aging</u>. Washington, D.C.: Adult Education Association of the U.S.A., n.d. (ED 099 541)
- Griffith, W. and McClusky, H.Y., eds. <u>Handbook Series in</u>
  Adult Education. San Francisco, California, 1980.
- Howell, S.C. "Familiarity and Complexity in Perceptual Recognition." <u>Journal of Gerontology</u>. 22(1967): 180-184.
- Jenkins, J.J. "Remember That Old Theory of Memory? Well, Forget It!" American Psychologist, 29(1974): 785-795.
- Kline, D.W. and Sabran, J. "Age Differences in Backward Monoptic Visual Noise Masking." <u>Journal of Gerontology</u>. 30(1975): 307.
- Knox, A.B. ed. New Directions for Continuing Education. A Quarterly Sourcebook. San Francisco, California: Jossey-Bass, Inc., 1979.
- Labouvie-Vief, G. and Gonda, J.N. Cognitive Strategy Training and Intellectual Performance in the Elderly. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Psychological Association, Chicago, Illinois, 1975.
- Laurence, M.W. "Memory Loss With Age: A Test of Two Hypotheses."

  Psychonomie Science. 9(1967): 209-210.
- Long H.B. et al. <u>Changing Approaches to Studying Adult</u>
  <u>Education</u>. San Francisco, California: Jossey-Bass,
  1980.
- McClusky, H.Y. <u>Effective Leadership.</u> Speech at the Chautauqua-Institution 55-Plus Program, Chatauqua, New York, 1977.
  - Volume II and Sourcebook on Education. 1971 White House Conference on Aging. Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office, 1973.

- Meichenbaum, D. "Self-Instructional Strategy Training: A Cognitive Prothesis for the Aged." <u>Human Development</u>. 17(1974): 222-228. (EJ 107 782)
- Murdock, B.B., Jr. "Recent Developments in Short Term Memory." British Journal of Psychology: 58(1967): 421-433.
- Owens, W. <u>Life History Correlates of Age Changes in Mental Abilities</u>. Washington, D.C.: Office of Education, HEW, 1963.
- Palmore, E., ed. Normal Aging II. Durham, North Carolina: Duke. University Press, 1974.
- Pastalan, L.A. et al. "The Stimulation of Age Related Losses; A New Approach to the Study of Environmental Barriers.".

  Environmental Design Research. Edited by W.P.E. Preiser.

  Stroudsburg, Pennsylvanía: Dowden, Hutchinson, and Ross, 1973.
- Richards, O.W. "Visions At Levels of Night Road Illumination. XII. Changes of Acuity and Contrast Sensitivity With Age." American Journal of Optometry. 43(1966): 313-319.
- Riegel, K.F. and Riegel, R.M. "Development, Drop, and Death." Developmental Psychology. 6(1972): 306-319.
- and Meyer, G.A. "A Study of the Drop-Out Rates in Longitudinal Research on Aging and the Prediction of Death." Middle Age and Aging: A Reader in Social Psychology. Edited by B.L. Neugarten. Chicago, Illinois, University of Chicago Press, 1968.
- Schonfield, D. and Wenger, L. "Age Limitation of Perceptual Span." Nature. 253(1975): 377-378.
- Taub, H.A. and Kline, G.E. "Modality Effects and Memory in the Aged." Educational Gerontology. 1(January-March, 1976): 53-59. (EJ 134 252)
- Testing, D.J. et al. <u>Basic Adult Services: A Model Curriculum</u>.
  Albany: State University of New York at Albany, Adult
  Services, Continuing Education Project, School of Social
  Welfare, 1978. (ED 158 198)
- Wasserman, I.M. "The Educational Interests of the Elderly:

  A Case Study." <u>Educational Gerontology</u>. 1(1976): 323-330.
- Welford, A.T. Aging and Human Skill. London, England: Oxford University Press, 1958.

- Wilkie, F.L. and Eisdorfer, C. "Sex, Verbal Ability, and Pacing Differences in Serial Learning." <u>Journal of Gerontology</u>. 32(1977): 63-67. (EJ 150 031)
- Woodruff, D.S. and Birren, J.E. "Biofeedback Conditioning of the EEG Alpha Rhythm in Young and Old Subjects."

  Proceedings of the 80th Annual Meeting of the American Psychological Association. 7(1972): 673-674.